I. INTRODUCTION 

This appeal arises from the dismissal at summary judgment of the 

coverage and extracontractual claims of appellant Lake Chelan Shores 

Owners Assoc. ("LCS") against its property insurer, St. Paul Fire & 

Marine Casualty Insurance Co. ("St. Paul"). S1. Paul agreed to insure the 

condominium complex against the risk of loss involving collapse of a 

building, or any part of a building from August 1996 until August 1999. 

Neither the contract language nor Washington law requires that a 

building actually fall to the ground. It is sufficient if the building is at 

risk of loss due to collapse, or in a state of substantial structural 

impairment or "SSI," at any time while St. Paul's policies were in force. 

This appeal addresses a number of issues of broad public 

importance, including the scope of an insurance carrier's duty to 

investigate a first party claim in good faith. This Court and others have 

recognized that an insurer has an independent obligation to investigate a 

first party claim in good faith. See e.g. Coventry Associates, L.P. v. 

American States Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 269,961 P.2d 933 (1998). These 

decisions, however, merely identify the existence of the duty, without 

addressing the scope of the duty to investigate. As a result, carriers such 

as S1. Paul have interpreted the duty to investigate to benefit themselves, 

depriving their policyholders of a fair and impartial investigation. 

-1-



LCS also seeks review of its motions to compel and for a CR 

56(f) continuance. After similar motions were granted compelling 

answers to identical discovery requests from co-defendant Northern 

Insurance Co. of New York ("Northern"), Northern was held to have 

investigated the collapse conditions at Lake Chelan Shores in bad faith. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in granting St. Paul's Motion for 

Summary Judgment dismissing all coverage claims. 

2. The trial court erred in granting St. Paul's Motion for 

Summary Judgment dismissing all extracontractual claims. 

3. The trial court erred in denying LCS's Motion to Compel. 

4. The trial court erred in denying LCS's Motion for a 

CR 56(f) continuance. 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Whether LCS met its burden of proof at summary judgment when it 
demonstrated there was a risk of loss involving collapse from hidden 
decay during st. Paul's policy periods? (Assignment of Error No.1). 

2. Whether a policyholder must prove that a loss occurred during a 
particular policy period when the insurer issued identical policies for 
three consecutive years and there is no requirement that the loss 
commence within a policy period? (Assignment of Error No.1). 

3. Whether the trial court erred by resolving disputed issues of fact at 
summary judgment regarding the qualifications and opinions of 
experts and failed to enter findings? (Assignment of Error No.1). 

4. Whether an insurance carrier breaches its duty to conduct a fair and 
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impartial investigation when it delegates its investigation to defense 
counsel, who thereafter conducts the investigation in the context of a 
zealous defense? (Assignment of Error No.2). 

5. Whether an insurance carrier breaches its duty to investigate in good 
faith when it retains an expert knowing he holds predetermined 
opinions beneficial to the carrier? (Assignment of Error No.2). 

6. Whether an insurance carrier acts in bad faith when it imposes a 
burden of proof for which there is no legal authority on its 
policyholder as a precondition to conducting an investigation? 
(Assignment of Error No.2). 

7. Whether the attorney-client privilege applies when an attorney 
conducts insurance adjusting functions such as the investigation of a 
claim? (Assignments of Error Nos. 3, 4). 

8. Whether it was an abuse of discretion to deny LCS's Motion to 
Compel and Motion for a CR 56(f) continuance when the trial court 
granted similar motions against St. Paul's co-defendant Northern 
resulting in summary judgment establishing bad faith? (Assignments 
of Error Nos. 3,4). 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The parties. 

Appellant LCS is the homeowners' association for a 

condominium resort known as Lake Chelan Shores. CP 1914-15. Lake 

Chelan Shores is a 21-building, multi-family complex, built in three 

phases between 1980 and 1992. Id.; CP 1723. The defendants are 

respondent St. Paul and Northern, which together insured the resort from 

August 1996 to August 2002.1 CP 21. Northern settled after summary 

I After 2002, insurance companies typically limited their collapse coverage to actual 
collapse where the building falls to the ground. 
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judgment was entered against it for failing to investigate in good bad 

faith. CP 2299-2302. 

B. The St. Paul policies. 

8t. Paul issued three policies to LC8 from August 1996 through 

August 1999. CP 146-261, 263-346, 348-426. In pertinent part, the 

insuring clause of each policy provides coverage for the following: 

Covered Causes of Loss 

We'll insure the covered property against risks of direct physical 
loss or damage unless excluded in the Exclusions - Losses We 
Won't Cover section. However, the following restrictions apply. 

Collapse coverage. We'll insure covered property against the 
risk of direct physical loss or damage involving collapse of a 
building or any part of a building. 

The collapse must be due to any of the following causes of loss: ... 

• hidden decay; 

CP 177, 280, 377. Excluded is damage from "Wear-tear-deterioration-

animals" including "deterioration, mold, wet or dry rot, rust or corrosion 

including fungal or bacterial contamination." CP 181, 284, 382. This 

exclusion does not apply to Collapse Coverage. CP 268, 357, 1749. 

There is no language in the 8t. Paul policies which requires the 

damage commence during a specific policy period. CP 146-426. The 

only timing requirement is that the "risk of direct physical loss or 

damage involving collapse" exist during a policy period. CP 177, 280, 

377. 
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C. The discovery of substantial structural impairment at Lake 
Chelan Shores in 2006. 

In March 2006, LCS retained architect Olympic Associates Co. 

("OAC") to advise it regarding cracks in the stucco siding. CP 1915-16. 

OAC recommended an intrusive investigation to determine the 

conditions beneath the stucco. CP 1916. OAC's resulting September 29, 

2006 report documents significant hidden decay, and substantial 

structural impairment or "SSI" in approximately half the 48 openings 

made. CP 1603-61. The report also identifies construction defects, such 

as the absence of flashing, which allowed water to intrude into the 

structures from completion of construction. CP 1606-07, 1946. The 

report concluded that SSI was present throughout the complex. CP 1617. 

After receiving the OAC report, LCS retained legal counsel to 

investigate coverage. CP 1917. The first notice of claim was sent to 

Northern in December 2006. CP 1917. St. Paul was given notice of the 

claim and a copy of the OAC report on June 29, 2007. CP 1917. 

Following OAC's advice, LCS began to prepare for a full investigation 

and repair in December 2006. CP 1946, 1916-18. It retained general 

contractor Tatley Grund Inc. ("TGI") to conduct the phased investigation 

and remediation project. CP 1916-19. The work commenced in October 

2007 with a completion date of June 2009. Id. 
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At summary judgment, St. Paul argued that LCS irrevocably 

made the decision to strip and reclad the buildings in December 2006. 

CP 1586-88. LCS disputes this claim. Board member Geoff Revelle 

testified that LCS did not make a final decision until approximately 

March of 2007, and did not sign a contract with TGI until September 

2007. CP 1778, 1919-20. Even then, LCS was open to less expensive 

alternatives, and would have allowed St. Paul to conduct a full 

investigation at any time. Id 

D. The handling of the LCS claim and investigation by St. Paul. 

Approximately 90 days elapsed between the June 29, 2007 notice 

of claim and the time TGI commenced work. CP 1917, 1978. During 

this period, there is no evidence St. Paul did anything substantive to 

investigate the claim. Although Dennis Luoma, the Travelers Group 

adjuster assigned to the claim, retained Wiss, Janney, Elstner, Inc. 

("WJE"), a professional engineering finn in mid-August, he waited until 

October 2nd when TGI was mobilizing to request that WJE do any work. 

CP 1597, 1964. Even then, he opined that an engineering investigation 

"probably was moot" and only asked WJE to monitor the repair project's 

progress. CP 1964. Although St. Paul knew the repair would proceed in 

phases, it never asked to conduct its own investigation, and never offered 

to share in the costs of stripping and recladding. CP 1918-19, 1968. 
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After suit was filed on August 30, 2007, St. Paul retained 

attorney James Derrig to defend the lawsuit and to direct the 

investigation. CP 141, 1598. According to Mr. Luoma, from that point 

on St. Paul's "investigation was performed through the legal process." 

CP 1598. WJE made several site visits, timing all but the first so the 

buildings could be inspected after stripping. CP 1967, 1976. Although 

St. Paul had retained WJE to back date decay in another case, WJE was 

not asked do so on this claim. CP 1964, 2059-64. After Buildings 1-8 

were stripped and inspected, W JE developed an investigation protocol 

for the remaining buildings, but never conducted the proposed 

investigation.2 CP 2022-43,1918-19. 

In early 2009, Mr. Derrig directed WJE to load test four decks. 

CP 1982-83, 1723-42. Mr. Derrig was told that the decks selected were 

not claimed to be in a state of SSI by LCS, but the testing proceeded 

anyway. CP 1981,1987,1723. No analysis was provided to demonstrate 

how the test results could be extrapolated to decks which were in a state 

of SSI, or to dissimilar structures such as stairs, landings, or walls with 

SSI. CP 1723-42. Despite notice to the contrary, St. Paul continued to 

claim that it tested decks claimed to be in a state of SSI. CP 1987, 2162. 

2 LeS does not know why WJE's inspection scope was never implemented since the 
post-litigation claim file for St. Paul was never produced. See Section IV G below. 
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Mr. Derrig also retained Dr. Barry Goodell, a wood scientist from 

Maine, to opine on timing of wood decay. CP 1962, 1955-56. Mr. 

Derrig knew Dr. Goodell believed it was impossible to back date decay 

because he used him as an expert on the same issue in two prior cases. 

CP 1955-56. According to Dr. Goodell, any effort to back date decay 

would have to be done to a laboratory standard of 95 percent certainty, 

requiring a decades long experiment monitoring every square foot of a 

building. CP 1959-60. Mr. Derrig chose Dr. Goodell over professional 

engineers who had testified on timing decay in other cases, including Mr. 

Dethlefs ofWJE. CP 970-75, 952-57, 1597. 

Prior to hiring Dr. Goodell, the Travelers Group had suffered a 

series of setbacks on its theory that SSI could not be back dated when its 

experts testified to a "more probable than not" standard. CP 954, 2051-

54,2105-14. Without explanation, Mr. Derrig asked Dr. Goodell to fonn 

his opinions in this case to "reasonable scientific certainty," a standard 

Dr. Goodell equated to laboratory testing standards. CP 1962, 1959. 

Dr. Goodell did not offer any opinions on a more probable than not 

basis, and never opined that it was impossible to back date the decay at 

Lake Chelan Shores on a more probable than not basis. CP 1958. 

In January of 2009", LCS asked St. Paul to conduct an 

investigation of hidden decay in the Clubhouse. CP 2044-45. St. Paul 
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refused, claiming it did not know a method for back dating decay. Id. 

St. Paul further claimed it had no obligation to investigate until LCS 

identified specific locations of SSI in the bUilding.3 CP 2045. LCS's 

insurance expert, Kay Thome, testified that he did not know of a similar 

instance in which an insurer refused to investigate based upon an 

expert's opinion that investigation was futile. CP 1939-40. 

On September 22, 2009, St. Paul finally denied coverage. CP 

2159-66. St. Paul summarized its reasons for denial as follows: 

The insured has failed to present sufficient evidence that any 
currently existing collapse conditions were present during St. 
Paul's policy periods of August 3, 1996 to August 3, 1999. 

CP 2159. "[S]ufficient evidence" presumably refers to the "reasonable 

scientific certainty" standard specified by Mr. Derrig to Dr. Goodell. 

CP 1962. The principal grounds for the denial were the assertion that 

decay could not be back dated (as opined by Dr. Goodell), and the load 

testing conducted by WJE. CP 2161-62. 

E. LCS's investigation of SSI conditions at Lake Chelan Shores. 

After construction commenced, LCS asked OAC's structural 

engineer, Justin Franklin, to determine if the decayed structures were in a 

state of SSI, and to render an opinion on a more probable than not basis 

3 In an interrogatory, LCS asked St. Paul to identify when the LCS claim was accepted 
or denied and its procedure for accepting or denying the claim. st. Paul responded that 
"it has been waiting for the insured to provide prima facie evidence that any of the 
claimed 'collapses' took place during St. Paul's policy periods." CP 1852. 
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whether the decay reached SSI prior to August 1999. CP 1026-27. Mr. 

Franklin rendered his opinions based upon his experience, specialized 

knowledge and training. CP 1027-28. He also used a mathematical 

model developed by OAC to define an exponential curve portraying the 

estimated progress of the decay. CP 1028-31, 1041-1283. 

LCS also retained wood scientist Kevin Flynn to review and 

comment upon Mr. Franklin's analysis. Mr. Flynn conducted an 

independent review, again based upon his experience, specialized 

knowledge and training, and concluded Mr. Franklin's estimates were 

accurate to a more probable than not standard. CP 1284-91. Mr. Flynn 

also compared Franklin's results to a predictive model using TimberLife 

software,4 finding a 75% correlation for structures such as decks, stairs 

and landings which were especially prone to decay. CP 1288. 

Mr. Flynn also opined that the 19-year time period relevant to 

St. Paul's polices did not require that a determination be made as to the 

precise moment the decay reached a state of SSI: 

My working understanding is that the St. Paul Travelers policies 
require that substantial structural impairment must be in existence 
during the policy periods. Therefore, if a wooden framing 
member reached a state of SSI at any time from the completion of 
construction in the 1980's or early 1990's until August 1999, then 
the SSI conditions existed within a time period relevant to St. 
Paul Travelers' policies. . .. [T]hese time periods do not require 
that a determination be made as to the precise moment when the 

4 TimberLife is a software package developed in Australia by wood scientists to predict 
the useful life of wood structures under varying conditions. CP 1287-90. 
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decay progressed to a state of SSI, so long as it can be stated on a 
more probable than not basis that the conditions existed during 
the time periods relevant to each policy. 

CP 1286. According to Mr. Flynn, the 95 percent certainty requirement 

used by Dr. Goodell at St. Paul's request set an "impossibly high 

standard which all but dictates" the negative opinions expressed by Dr. 

Goodell. CP 1286. 

This is not a laboratory experiment or procedure, and the 
underlying science. is not in question. The observations of wood 
decay and degradation must necessarily be made in the field and 
not the lab, as it would be impractical and unnecessary to lab test 
every portion of a 20-building project which experienced readily 
observable degradation. 

CP 1286. Mr. Franklin and Mr. Flynn both testified that they observed 

similar amounts of decay at Lake Chelan Shores in similar construction 

details occurring over similar periods of time. CP 1031, 1290. Both 

testified that this demonstrated far more consistency in the progression of 

the decay at Lake Chelan than claimed by Dr. Goodell. CP 1031, 1290. 

F. The trial court dismisses all coverage claims against St. Paul 
at summary judgment. 

By Order dated November 23, 2009, Judge Gonzalez granted 

St. Paul's Motion for Summary Judgment on coverage, adding the 

following language to St. Paul's proposed order. 

It may be possible to say that if the collapse happened during a 
coverage period it more probably happened under one policy as 
compared to another policy based on timing. However, it is not 
possible to say on a more probable than not basis, even in the 
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light most favorable to Plaintiff, that collapse happened during a 
specific coverage period as opposed to some other time. 

CP 1888-90. From this, it appears the trial court dismissed the coverage 

claims based upon the erroneous belief that "collapse" had to be timed to 

a specific, one-year policy period. However, St. Paul never made this 

argument. St. Paul stated its position as follows in its motion: 

The plaintiff thus bears the burden of showing the alleged 
collapse condition existed while St. Paul insured the property." 

CP 35 (italics added). Similar language was used in St. Paul's denial 

letter. CP 2159. In fact, there is no language in St. Paul's policies 

requiring that a loss commence during a policy period.s Accordingly, 

the trial court's reasoning is contrary to both the policy language and the 

positions taken by St. Paul at summary judgment and in its denial letter. 

Finally, the Order rules that the opinions of Mr. Flynn, and 

Mr. Franklin are inadmissible pursuant to ER 702 and the Frye6 

standard, but no findings supporting this ruling were entered. CP 1889. 

The ruling also impliedly resolves a dispute among the experts regarding 

back dating decay, again without the entry of findings. CP 1026-32, 

1284-91,90-104. Both rulings are reversible error. 

5 The trial court may have confused the St. Paul policies with Northern's policies which 
include language requiring that a loss commence during Northern's policy periods. 
6 Washington follows the standards set forth in Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 
(D.C.Cir.1923) to determine the admissibility of expert testimony relating to new or 
novel scientific theories. 
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G. St. Paul's motion to dismiss extracontractual claims, and 
LCS's motion to compel and motion for a CR 56(1) 
continuance. 

LCS submitted Interrogatories and Requests for Production to 

St. Paul on July 20, 2009. CP 1842-66. St. Paul refused to produce 

adequate answers to all requests, and moved instead for summary 

judgment on LCS's extracontractual claims. CP 1838-39, 1578-94. LCS 

then filed a Motion to Compel discovery (CP 1826-36) of the following: 

1. All claim file documents which post-dated the filing of the 

lawsuit, including all documents relating to the selection of experts, the 

investigation, and the coverage analysis. CP 1838-39, 1826-36. 

2. A 167-page sub-file of the claims file labeled "subrogation file" 

which was withheld without explanation. CP 1838, 1826-36. 

3. Information relating to other claims adjusted by St. Paul 

involving collapse, SSI, and the timing of hidden decay, including the 

identity of experts retained relative to those issues. CP 1838-39,1826-36. 

4. All documents relating to the investigation withheld on grounds 

of attorney-client privilege or work product. CP 1871-72, 1826-36. 

LCS also requested a CR 56(f) continuance until S1. Paul 

produced the requested documents. CP 2236. The trial court denied 

both motions, and granted the motion for summary judgment. CP 2288-

89, 2292-94. 
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H. Subsequent procedural history. 

Following dismissal of St. Paul, the extracontractual claims 

against Northern remained at issue. LCS moved to compel answers from 

Northern to identical discovery requests as those served upon St. Paul. 

The trial court granted the motion, compelling the production of 

documents similar to those withheld by St. Paul. CP 2295-98. Cross-

motions for summary judgment were decided by Judge Gonzalez on 

March 17, 2010. CP 2299-2302. LCS's motion establishing bad faith 

was granted, and Northern's motion was denied. Id. Northern 

subsequently settled with LCS. An order of dismissal was entered on 

April 2, 2010 and a Notice of Appeal was timely filed. CP 2303-04, 

2305-19. 

V. AUTHORITY 

A. The trial court erred by dismissing the coverage claims 
against St. Paul at summary judgment and by applying Frye 
hearing standards to a summary judgment motion. 

1. Standard of review for summary judgment. 

An appellate court reviewing an order on summary judgment 

engages in the same inquiry as the trial court, considering all matters de 

novo. Hisle v. Todd Pacific Shipyards Corp., 151 Wn.2d 853, 860-61, 

93 P.3d 108 (2004). Summary judgment is appropriate only "if there is 

no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to a 
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judgment as a matter of law." Cowlitz Stud Co. v. Clevenger, 157 Wn.2d 

569,573, 141 P.3d 1 (2006). All facts and inferences must be viewed in 

the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Herron v. King 

Broadcasting Co., 112 Wn.2d 762,768-69,776 P.2d 98 (1989). Issues 

of credibility, including the credibility of experts, may not be resolved at

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