# 66636-3

# SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

LAKE CHELAN SHORES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit entity,

Appellant,

v.

ST. PAUL FIRE & MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Respondent,

and

NORTHERN INSURANCE COMPANY OF NEW YORK, a foreign corporation,

Defendant.

#### **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

James T Derrig Attorney At Law PLLC James T. Derrig, WSBA 13471 Attorney for Respondent St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Company

14419 Greenwood Ave N. Suite A-372 Seattle, WA 98133-6867 (206) 414-7228

HILED AS TACHMENT TO EMAIL

ORIGINAL

# **

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

# IV. ARGUMENT

### A. LCS Failed to Establish A Required Element Of Coverage.

# 1. <u>LCS Had The Burden To Prove Which "Collapse"</u> <u>Conditions Existed During The Policy Period.</u>

When a plaintiff lacks evidence sufficient to support a necessary element of its case, summary judgment must be entered. *See Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989); *Guile v. Ballard Community Hosp.*, 70 Wn. App. 18, 21-22 851 P.2d 689 (1993). The first question, therefore, is what must LCS prove? It must prove which alleged "collapse" conditions existed during St. Paul's policy period:

Mercer Place thus argues that once the predicate covered damage (here, collapse caused by progressive structural decay) occurs during the policy period, those damages that reach collapse after the policy period are also covered under the policy. The problem with Mercer Place's argument is that under this policy the predicate for coverage is collapse, not the precursors of collapse such as dry rot, water seepage, or design or construction defects leading to such losses. Since the policy specifically excludes coverage for damage from hidden decay that has not yet reached a point of collapse during the policy period, collapse that occurs after the policy period is specifically excluded from coverage.

Mercer Place Condominium Ass'n v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 104 Wn. App. 597, 605, 17 P.3d 626 (2000). In *Mercer Place* there was no doubt that "collapse" conditions existed when State Farm insured the property. The question was whether the existence of <u>some</u> collapse conditions during the policy period meant the insurer was liable for <u>all</u> collapse conditions even if the conditions occurred later. The answer was "no." This means LCS cannot carry its burden of proof simply by showing that some unquantified number of "collapse" conditions might have existed when St. Paul insured the property. Rather, LCS must show <u>which</u> of the 121 claimed conditions existed at that time, <u>because under *Mercer Place* St. Paul is not liable for those that came thereafter.</u>

Each SSI condition is unique and the cost to repair one subset of SSI conditions would be is different from the cost of repairing another subset. (CP 74 lines 12-16) Therefore, the actual members of the subset applicable to Travelers must be determined.

St. Paul's policies are similar to the *Mercer Place* policy, as St. Paul's policy only covers decay after it reaches the point of "collapse." The insured bears the initial burden of showing the loss falls within the scope of the policy's insured losses. *Schwindt v. Underwriters at Lloyd's*, 81 Wn. App. 293, 298, 914 P.2d 119 (1996). The covered event here is "collapse." *Mercer Place*, 104 Wn. App. at 605. The insured bears the burden of showing the covered event took place during the

insurer's policy period. See Wellbrock v. Assurance Co. of Am., 90 Wn. App. 234, 241, 951 P.2d 367 (1998). "The insured has the burden to prove the existence of collapse caused by one of the named perils." Malbco Holdings, LLC v. AMCO Ins. Co., 629 F. Supp. 2d 1185, 1199 (D. Or. 2009); see, Roberts v. Assurance Co. of America, 163 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1398, 1407, 78 Cal.Rptr.3d 361, 369 (2008).

The same result is reached if the Collapse coverage is treated as an exception to the Collapse exclusion. The policy excludes collapse "other than that described in the collapse coverage under the Covered Causes Of Loss section." (CP 178, 281, 378) The insured bears the burden of showing that an exception to an exclusion applies. *See, Smith v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 656 N.W.2d 432, 436 (Minn. App. 2003); *Aydin Corp. v. First State Ins. Co.*, 18 Cal. 4th 1183, 1190, 959 P.2d 1213, 1216 (1998); *Hudnell v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 190 Ariz. 52, 54, 945 P.2d 363, 365 (App. 1997).

LCS tries to avoid its burden of proof by arguing it only has to show a "risk" of collapse. This proposition does not change the burden of proof, it only affects the level of damage implicating the collapse coverage—the damage can be less than a complete disintegration of the building and can include an imminent danger that part of a building will

fall. See generally Assurance Co. of Am. v. Wall & Assocs. LLC, 379 F.3d 557, 563 (9th Cir. 2004).

For purposes of this appeal, St. Paul assumes that "SSI" is the correct measure and that "SSI" arising before St. Paul's first policy term can be covered. Both propositions are irrelevant since LCS is unable to show any general acceptance of its theories and methodologies for tracing decay back in time. Without such proof, it makes no difference what amount of decay is required for a "collapse," or if the coverage period is 3 years or 10. Stated colloquially: *It doesn't matter how big the bull'seye is if you don't have any arrows for your bow*.

# 2. LCS's Opinion Testimony Was Properly Excluded

The crux of LCS' case is: A jury could find that certain "collapse" conditions existed during St. Paul's policy period not because anyone observed such conditions at the time, but because 10 years later Mr. Franklin used  $y=ax^2+c$  to calculate when each "collapse" came into existence.

# a. Frye Was Appropriately Applied

For expert testimony to be admissible, it first must satisfy the *Frye* standard and then must meet the other criteria in ER 702. *See State* v. *Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 829-30, 147 P.2d 1201 (2006); *Ruff v. Dept.* of Labor & Indus., 107 Wn. App. 289, 299-300, 28 P.3d 1 (2001).

Under *Frye*, novel scientific evidence is admissible where (1) the scientific theory or principle upon which the evidence is based has gained general acceptance in the relevant scientific community of which it is a part; and (2) there are generally accepted methods of applying the theory or principle in a manner capable of producing reliable results.

State v. Sipin, 130 Wn. App. 403, 414, 123 P.3d 862 (2005).

Both the scientific theory underlying the evidence and the technique or methodology used to implement it must be generally accepted in the scientific community for evidence to be admissible under *Frye*.

State v. Gregory, supra, 158 Wn.2d at 829.

Under the *Frye* test, we do not determine if the scientific theory underlying the proposed testimony is correct. Rather, we must look to see whether the theory has achieved general acceptance in the appropriate scientific community

*Grant v. Boccia*, 133 Wn. App. 176, 179, 137 P.3d 20 (2006)(citation omitted)

The burden of showing admissibility is on the party offering the evidence. See, State v. Smith, 87 Wn. App. 345, 348, 941 P.2d 725 (1997); E.I. DuPont de Nemours and Co., Inc. v. Robinson, 923 S.W.2d 549, 557 (Tex. 1995). If a significant dispute exists between qualified scientists as to the validity of either the theory or the particular methodology, general acceptance is not established and the evidence is

not admissible. Grant, 133 Wn. App at 179; see also Gregory, 158 Wn.2d at 829.

This last point is especially important, because LCS confuses the summary judgment standard with the *Frye* standard. LCS thinks a dispute between experts creates issues of fact. Summary judgment can be denied, however, only if the nonmoving party produces <u>admissible</u> evidence creating a fact dispute. CR 56(e); *Lynn v. Labor Ready, Inc.*, 136 Wn. App. 295, 306, 151 P.3d 201 (2006). LCS's rot-timing evidence is not admissible.

LCS also argues that when there is a dispute between experts, the Court cannot make "factual determinations" without conducting a *Frye* hearing. (Opening brief at 24) The "fact dispute" would have to be over whether general acceptance has been reached, not over the validity of the science. *Grant*, 133 Wn. App. at 179. There was no genuine dispute here because LCS's experts were unable to identify a single, independent scientist anywhere who has even discussed, let alone accepted, their methodology. Regardless, LCS never requested a *Frye* hearing. Only St. Paul asked for such a hearing, and only in the alternative. (CP 40-41) LCS cannot claim the trial court erred by failing to hold a hearing LCS never requested. RAP 2.5(a).

LCS also complains that the trial court did not issue "findings." Since review of a *Frye* ruling is *de novo* and the Court can go beyond the trial court record, findings would be irrelevant. *See, Ruff v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., supra,* 107 Wn. App. at 300; *Int'l Broth. of Elec. Workers v. TRIG Elec. Const. Co.,* 142 Wash. 2d 431, 435, 13 P.3d 622 (2000).

# b. <u>Franklin's Conclusions Were Properly</u> Excluded

To perform a *Frye* analysis, courts consider three sources of information:

To determine whether a consensus of scientific opinion has been achieved, the reviewing court examines expert testimony, scientific writings that have been subject to peer review and publication, secondary legal sources, and legal authority from other jurisdictions. However, "the relevant inquiry is general acceptance by the scientists, not the courts."

Eakins v. Huber, 154 Wn. App. 592, 599-600, 225 P.3d 1041 (2010) (citations omitted)

For two of these three categories, LCS didn't even bother to swing at the pitch. LCS provided no articles, peer reviewed or otherwise, or any secondary legal sources or legal authority, suggesting it is possible to accurately trace rot progression in situations analogous to the present one, much less that Mr. Franklin's equation is the way to do it.

LCS swung at the third pitch, but struck out. Expert testimony only is considered to the extent that it bears on the issue of general acceptance, not so a court can determine on its own whether the theories and implementation methods are correct *Grant*, 133 Wn. App. at 179. The testimony here does not demonstrate any general acceptance of Franklin's equation.

To justify his formula, Franklin said it "is merely an equation for graphing the wood rot's lag phase and accelerated growth phase that is universally accepted in the scientific community. Equations such as this are commonly used by engineers and others for various applications." (CP 1029) Such testimony does not show general acceptance of Mr. Franklin's formula in any relevant community. Rather, it is little more than an assertion that the second half of the *Frye* analysis is unnecessary: Franklin suggests that the theory (lag followed by growth) is generally accepted, so he should not have to show that his particular implementation is generally accepted. The opposite is true: Both the theory and the method used to implement it must have gained general acceptance in the scientific community. *Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d at 829; *Sipin*, 130 Wn. App. at 414.

The theory is not, in fact, generally accepted. Rot fungi growing in a perfect laboratory environment can exhibit a lag phase followed by

exponential growth and then logarithmic decline (which Franklin ignores). Nature is more complex than a petri dish, so fungi in the real world exhibit a highly variable and fragmented growth pattern determined by numerous environmental factors not accounted for in Franklin's model. (CP 94-96)

Franklin also suggests that since engineers in general use "equations", his particular equation must be acceptable—math is math, so any old math will do.<sup>5</sup> However, the only other mathematical decay progression model provided to the Court (by St. Paul, not LCS) bears no resemblance to Franklin's simplistic equation. (CP 768)

The second expert, Flynn, said "while <u>no single mathematical</u> <u>model has been accepted</u> to the exclusion of others, the concept of applying a mathematical model such as Mr. Franklin's to approximate the exponential curve that describes the progress of wood decay is generally accepted in the scientific community." (CP 1289; underline added) Flynn literally admits that Franklin's equation has <u>not</u> gained general acceptance. Other than Franklin, he could not identify anybody who had ever used the equation. He also was unable to identify general

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Engineers apply equations to inanimate objects; living things do not cooperate well with tidy mathematical formulae. (CP 94-5)

acceptance of the equation's major premise: That decay progresses according to the square of the number of years. (CP 828-30)

#### c. Use Of Timberlife Was Properly Excluded

Even though LCS's claims as to timing were generated exclusively by Franklin's formula, LCS also tried to "validate" Franklin's output with Timberlife, an Australian life cycle analysis program. (CP 676; 687)

LCS's attempted use of Timberlife cannot be squared with *Frye*. Under *Frye* "we do not determine if the scientific theory underlying the proposed testimony is correct. Rather, we must look to see whether the theory has achieved general acceptance in the appropriate scientific community." *Grant*, 133 Wn. App. at 179. A peer-reviewed scientific publication might rely on software to help validate or invalidate the theory or methodology under consideration. Here, however, LCS is asking *the Court* to perform this exercise itself, and to consider whether Timberlife's output validates the output from Franklin's equation. Since this is not the Court's task, Timberlife is irrelevant to the *Frye* analysis.

Even if it were relevant, Timberlife was not properly applied. Timberlife is designed to predict median values applicable to large populations, not the specific life spans of individual pieces of wood. (CP 102; 844) It is not accepted for use as forensic software. (CP 102; 850)

Using Timberlife to determine how a particular piece of wood decayed would be like using the life expectancy table in WPI 34.04 to assign a date of death to a particular person. Flynn acknowledged this problem, saying that correcting it would have required him to "reverse engineer" the software. (CP 848) In addition, Timberlife's authors recommend calibrating it to the climate. (CP 685; 432) Proper calibration requires using several weather factors specific to the particular environment. (CP 431-432) That data was not available, so Flynn was unable to calibrate the software. (CP 838)

# d. <u>An "Expert" Cannot Avoid Frye By</u> Emphasizing His Alleged Qualifications

Attempting to skip the *Frye* analysis altogether, LCS argues its experts would have reached an identical conclusion without the Franklin equation, based on their qualifications and experience. (Opening brief at 22) The "experts" actually had no experience in timing rot progression in eastern Washington. *See discussion, supra,* pp. 5-6, 9. Regardless, the argument confuses the issue of whether a proposed expert qualifies to testify with whether his opinions pass muster under *Frye*. <u>Both</u> standards must be met or the evidence is not admissible.

Both the scientific theory underlying the evidence and the technique or methodology used to implement it must be generally accepted in the scientific community for evidence to be admissible under *Frye*....

Once a methodology is accepted in the scientific community, then application of the science to a particular case is a matter of weight and admissibility under ER 702, which allows qualified expert witnesses to testify if scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact. ER 702:

Gregory, 158 Wn.2d at 829-30 (citations omitted); Ruff, 107 Wn. App. at 299-300. See, also, Eakins, supra 154 Wn. App. at 600-1 (qualified doctors' opinions not admissible when Frye not met).

The duality exists because ER 702 contains both a qualification component and a reliability component, i.e., *Frye*:

Of course, the unremarkable observation that an expert may be qualified by experience does not mean that experience, standing alone, is a sufficient foundation rendering reliable *any* conceivable opinion the expert may express. . . Quite simply, under Rule 702, the *reliability* criterion remains a discrete, independent, and important requirement for admissibility.

... If admissibility could be established merely by the *ipse* dixit of an admittedly qualified expert, the reliability prong would be, for all practical purposes, subsumed by the qualification prong.

United States v. Frazier, 387 F.3d 1244, 1261 (11th Cir. 2004)(selected citations omitted; italics in original); see, Hassett v. Long Island R. Co., 787 N.Y.S.2d 837, 839 (Sup. Ct. 2004); Grady v. Frito-Lay, Inc., 839 A.2d 1038, 1045-46 (Pa. 2003).

# B. The Bad Faith Claims Were Properly Dismissed Because LCS Could Not Demonstrate Breach Or Proximate Cause.

# 1. Gross Misstatements Of Fact In Appellant's Brief

Four of LCS's assertions are so grossly inaccurate as to require special attention.

#### a. Load Tests Of Actual Conditions

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